IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. FORD,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
V.)	Case No. SC-04-1611
)	Lower Case No. 97-351-CF
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	

DIRECT APPEAL OF DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

FREDERICK P. MERCURIO

Law Offices of Frederick P. Mercurio, P.A. 747 North Washington Boulevard Sarasota, Florida 34236 (941) 365-1185 (941) 366-8847 (Fax) Fred@mercurioatty.com Florida Bar No. 0396508 Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Nature of the Case

This direct appeal arises out of the trial court's final order denying Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief following an evidentiary hearing. (III:359-377).

Course of the Proceedings

After a jury trial, Appellant was convicted of two counts of first-degree murder, one count of sexual battery, and one count of child abuse. (I:7). The jury recommended a sentence of death after hearing evidence in support of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (I:7). The trial court concurred with the jury's recommendation and on June 3, 1999, imposed a sentence of death with respect to Appellant's dual first-degree murder convictions.¹ (I:7-24). This Court affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences on direct appeal. See Ford v. State, 802 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 1103 (2002).²

On May 28, 2003, Appellant filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief ("Motion"). (I:1). Appellant's Motion alleged three (3) grounds for relief. (I:3-4). First, Appellant asserted that trial counsel pursued the defense of voluntary intoxication over Appellant's objection and without Appellant's permission or consent.³ (I:3). Second, Appellant claimed that trial counsel waived Appellant's

^{1.} The trial court sentenced Appellant to 19.79 years imprisonment for the sexual battery conviction and five years imprisonment for the child abuse conviction. (I:35-36).

² 2. For an extensive discussion of the facts of the underlying case, together with an analysis of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances presented below, see this Court's opinion in Ford.

^{3.} Appellant's first ground for relief alleged: "The attorneys representing me...pursued the defense and [j]ury [i]nstruction of voluntary intoxication over my

speedy trial rights over Appellant's objection and without Appellant's permission or consent.⁴ (I:3). Third, Appellant alleged that trial counsel failed to present evidence showing that Appellant had a mental age of 14 years at the time of the crime.⁵ (I:3).

In response, the State indicated that Appellant's Motion was timely. (I:51). However, the State alleged that despite its timeliness, Appellant's Motion was "inadequate to compel relief." (I:55). Nevertheless, the State responded that an evidentiary hearing was warranted for the purpose of resolving the factual allegations set forth in the Motion. (I:55-56).

Following several status conferences, an evidentiary hearing was ultimately conducted. (III:254). At the commencement of the evidentiary hearing, Appellant abandoned his third ground for relief. (III:256-257,259-262,345-351). Accordingly, the evidentiary hearing proceeded on the voluntary intoxication defense and speedy trial issues only. (III:257,262).

objection and without my permission or consent." (I:3).

- 4. Appellant's second ground for relief alleged: "Over my objection and without my permission or consent[,] defense counsel waived my right to a [s]peedy [t]rial." (I:3).
- 5. Appellant's third and last ground for relief alleged: "Defense [c]ounsel failed to sufficiently present evidence from Dr. Mosman and Dr. Greer to support the fact that the Defendant's chronological age notwithstanding, that his mental age at the time of the crime was 14 years of age. Having the mental age of 14, [d]efense [c]ounsel should have argued that the [d]eath [p]enalty was not legally appropriate due to the Defendant's mental retardation. Mental retardation was not presented or requested as a mitigating factor in the Defendant's [p]enalty [p]hase. The Defendant's [c]ounsel failed to follow the correct procedure when a defendant is possibly mentally retarded by failing to have the [c]ourt [a]ppoint the [d]iagnosis and [e]valuation [t]eam of HRS to examine the Defendant pursuant to Florida Statute §916.11(1)(d)." (I:3-4).

Appellant, a 44 year-old, literate man with a tenth grade education, testified that prior to becoming involved in the underlying case, he had minimal experience with the legal system. (III:264-266). Appellant explained that his legal experience was limited to a hunting violation and a cattle rustling charge. (III:264-265). Accordingly, Appellant testified that he was not aware of his right to a speedy trial and, furthermore, that he did not possess any understanding of the voluntary intoxication defense. (III:266).

Appellant indicated that his mother retained Paul Sullivan, Esq. ("Attorney Sullivan") to represent him. (III:266). Sometime later, Paul Alessandroni, Esq. ("Attorney Alessandroni") joined as co-counsel. (III:266). Appellant indicated that after becoming aware of his right to a speedy trial, he discussed the matter with Attorney Sullivan. (III:267). Specifically, Appellant testified that he did not authorize Attorney Sullivan to waive his speedy trial right. (III:267). Appellant explained that he told Attorney Sullivan that he didn't want "any of [his] rights waived whatsoever." (III:267). However, this discussion occurred after a continuance had already been sought and granted.⁶ (III:267).

Appellant eventually prepared and filed, on his own, a speedy trial motion. (III:269). Appellant explained that although he was not seeking to be tried within the 90 day demand period, he nevertheless wanted to be tried within the statutory time frame. (III:270-271,284). Appellant further explained that a speedy trial would have forced the State to provide discovery to his trial counsel in a more timely fashion. (III:271). Appellant also testified that if trial counsel had not waived his right to a speedy trial, the State may not have been able to present certain evidence, including inculpatory witness testimony and DNA evidence, at

^{6.} It appears that trial counsel stipulated to a continuance of the case. (III:268).

trial. (III:275-276). Appellant's <u>pro se</u> motion was deemed a nullity in light of the fact that Appellant had counsel representing him. (III:269,284).

Appellant then instructed trial counsel to file a speedy trial motion. (III:270,284). ⁷ Trial counsel did so, after which Appellant became involved in a "heated argument" with them about the speedy trial issue. (III:272-273). Appellant testified that he initially refused to waive his speedy trial rights, but eventually acquiesced, telling trial counsel, "You just tell me what to say and I'll say it, but I don't like it and I didn't want to do it." (III:273). Appellant explained that when he went into the courtroom a few minutes after the "heated argument," he waived his speedy trial rights in front of the judge, although that was not his true desire. ⁸ (III:273-274). Appellant asserted that the waiver was not freely and voluntarily given. (III:276).

During cross examination, Appellant acknowledged that trial counsel had advised him that they needed additional time to prepare the case. (III:282). When trial counsel told Appellant that a continuance was necessary in order to prepare the case, Appellant initially did not object. (III:282-283). Apparently, Appellant had provided trial counsel with a list of witnesses he wanted to be called during the case, and trial counsel needed additional time to get the witnesses ready for trial. (III:287). Appellant also testified that he wanted the State to take whatever time was necessary to process the DNA results because he believed that the DNA evidence would be exculpatory. (III:288).

With respect to the voluntary intoxication defense, Appellant testified that he

⁷ 7. The trial court ultimately ruled that Appellant, through counsel, had previously waived his right to a speedy trial. (III:285-286).

⁸ 8. Appellant seemed to indicate that the speedy trial issue was not raised on direct appeal. (III:286-287).

discussed the defense with Attorney Sullivan. (III:276). It was Appellant's understanding that the voluntary intoxication defense applied to the guilt phase of the trial. (III:277). Appellant testified that he did not give trial counsel permission to utilize the voluntary intoxication defense. (III:277-278). Appellant further testified that he specifically instructed Attorney Sullivan not to pursue the defense. (III:278). Appellant explained that he made this instruction on several occasions because in Appellant's mind, the voluntary intoxication defense acted as an admission. (III:279). However, although Appellant was present when trial counsel discussed the proposed jury instructions with the judge, Appellant did not voice any objections to the voluntary intoxication defense instruction because he was under the impression that the judge would decide that issue. (III:280). During cross examination, Appellant conceded that trial counsel did not claim that he committed the crime at anytime during trial. (III:288). Following cross examination, Appellant rested. (III:290).

The State called Attorney Sullivan, Appellant's lead trial counsel, as its first witness. (III:290-292). Attorney Sullivan, a former assistant state attorney, testified that he had been practicing criminal defense in the Punta Gorda area since approximately 1991. (III:291-292). He had not tried a death penalty case before. (III:313). He indicated that he had been retained by Appellant's mother to represent Appellant. (III:292). Sometime later, Attorney Sullivan requested assistance from Attorney Alessandroni, given Attorney Alessandroni's experience handling first degree murder cases as an assistant state attorney and later as a criminal defense attorney. (III:292). Attorney Sullivan explained that he also retained a mitigation investigator, two psychologists, a psychiatrist, a crime scene

⁹ 9. Appellant opined that the voluntary intoxication defense would confuse the jurors. (III:279).

expert, a medical examiner, and a DNA expert. (III:293-294).

With respect to the voluntary intoxication defense, Attorney Sullivan testified that the voluntary intoxication defense would help in both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. (III:296-297,324-325). He explained that the evidence indicated that Appellant had consumed two large glasses of whiskey on the day of the crime. (III:296-297). On top of that, Appellant may have also consumed beer at the crime scene. (III:297). Attorney Sullivan explained that the voluntary intoxication defense was not used as an admission; rather, the voluntary intoxication defense was used to argue that Appellant was simply incapable of committing the crimes.¹⁰ (III:298,324). It was also intended to be used as a foundation for the penalty phase. (III:324-325).

When asked what he remembered discussing with Appellant about the voluntary intoxication defense, Attorney Sullivan testified that he didn't know. (III:297). Attorney Sullivan explained that he didn't recall any objections from Appellant with respect to the voluntary intoxication defense, although he did recall Appellant privately denying that he was drunk on the day of the crime. (III:297,303,322-323). He further explained that he could not recall any details of any of the conversations he had with Appellant concerning this matter because "it just wasn't that big of an issue." (III:297-298). Attorney Sullivan did, however, agree that in light of Appellant's steadfast denial that he had committed the crimes, his "hands were somewhat tied" in preparing such an affirmative defense.

^{10.} Attorney Sullivan testified: "I think you [the assistant state attorney] had argued to the jury that [Appellant] had carefully planned everything out and set up the whole murder throughout the course of the morning, seemed to be the State's argument. And we were arguing that he didn't do that and that he – one of the reasons he didn't do it was because he was too impaired to have done all that." (III:298).

(III:298,300-301). At no time did Attorney Sullivan remember Appellant instructing him not to pursue the voluntary intoxication defense. (III:322).

With respect to the speedy trial issue, Attorney Sullivan testified that he met with Appellant before seeking the initial continuance. (III:303). Attorney Sullivan explained that there was no way the defense could have been ready for trial and that a continuance was necessary in order to prepare the case properly. (III:303-305). Appellant did not voice any objections to trial counsel's advice about the continuance. (III:304). Attorney Sullivan recalled going "round and round about the speedy trial rules" with Appellant. (III:306). Pursuant to Appellant's request, Attorney Sullivan filed a speedy trial motion, arguing that speedy trial had expired. (III:306). However, because speedy trial had previously been waived via the initial continuance, the trial court denied the motion. (III:306-307). According to Attorney Sullivan, the initial waiver of speedy trial was necessary in order to prepare the case for trial. (III:307).

During cross examination, Attorney Sullivan testified that after the initial continuance had been granted, Appellant instructed him not to waive any of Appellant's rights. (II:313). Attorney Sullivan acknowledged that Appellant may not have realized that his speedy trial rights were being waived in conjunction with the initial continuance. (III:313-314). Appellant appeared to experience difficulty understanding legal concepts. (III:319). Attorney Sullivan did not file a demand for speedy trial, despite Appellant's desire for him to do so. (III:315). Attorney Sullivan explained that he talked Appellant out of filing such demands. (III:316-317). Lastly, Attorney Sullivan did not have any recollection of the "heated argument" meeting that Appellant testified had occurred shortly before the trial court considered trial counsel's speedy trial motion. (III:319-320). Attorney Sullivan indicated that perhaps he should not have waived Appellant's speedy trial rights. (III:320-321).

The State then called Attorney Alessandroni, a general master and practicing criminal defense attorney. (III:327). Attorney Alessandroni explained that he became involved in the case as co-counsel in light of his experience. (III:328-329). With respect to the voluntary intoxication defense, Attorney Alessandroni indicated that one of the experts opined that Appellant may have been under the influence at the time of the crime. (III:330). Specifically, the expert opined that Appellant may have experienced an alcohol blackout, due in part to his diabetic condition. (III:330). Attorney Alessandroni did not recall obtaining Appellant's consent to use the voluntary intoxication defense, although he did recall advising Appellant that such a defense may be beneficial. (III:330-333). Given Appellant's repeated denials that he had been involved in the crime, the voluntary intoxication defense was used to argue that due to Appellant's intoxication, Appellant could not have committed the crimes. (III:331). When trial counsel discussed this strategy with Appellant, Appellant denied that he was intoxicated on the date of the crimes, but nevertheless appeared to agree with the strategy. (III:332-333,338-339). According to Attorney Alessandroni, Appellant never forbade him from using the voluntary intoxication defense. (III:339).

With respect to the speedy trial issue, Attorney Alessandroni testified that by the time he became involved in the case, speedy trial had already been waived via a continuance stipulation. (III:334-335). He further explained that anytime a continuance was sought in Appellant's case, the continuance was necessary in order to prepare Appellant's defense. (III:335). Although Appellant expressed some disagreement about the continuances, he ultimately agreed to the continuances after learning that trial counsel needed additional time to prepare. (III:335-336,341). Attorney Alessandroni indicated that there was never a time when Appellant outrightly insisted on proceeding to trial. (III:336).

During cross examination, Attorney Alessandroni testified that he recalled

the "heated argument" meeting. (III:341-342). He explained that at the end of the meeting, Appellant reluctantly agreed to a subsequent waiver of his speedy trial rights. (341-342). Attorney Alessandroni reiterated that there would have been no way to prepare Appellant's case within the statutory speedy trial time frame. (III:342-343).

Following Attorney Alessandroni's testimony, the State rested. (III:344).

Disposition

In an order rendered on July 14, 2004, the trial court denied Appellant's Motion. (III:359-377). Applying the Strickland standard, the trial court found that Appellant's trial counsel were not deficient and that Appellant was not prejudiced. (III:374). The trial court held that the voluntary intoxication issue was moot since such a defense was not allowed during the guilt phase of the trial. (III:374-375). The trial court also held that the continuances, together with the accompanying waivers of speedy trial, were necessary in order for Appellant's trial attorneys to render effective assistance of counsel. (III:375). In short, the trial court found trial counsels' requests for continuances to be reasonable under the circumstances. (III:375-376).

Appellant timely appealed on August 11, 2004. (III:378).

9

^{11. &}lt;u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT RENDER INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO THE VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE ISSUE IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?

II. WHETHER APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY WAIVING APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's finding that Appellant received effective assistance of counsel is not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record. With respect to the voluntary intoxication defense issue, the trial court denied Appellant's claim on the ground that it was moot. Specifically, the trial court found that it did not permit voluntary intoxication as a defense during the guilt phase of the trial. Not only is the trial court's finding in this regard not supported by competent, substantial evidence, the evidence introduced below affirmatively proves that the voluntary intoxication defense was utilized during both phases of the trial. Both Attorney Sullivan and Attorney Alessandroni testified that the voluntary intoxication defense was used during the guilt phase of the trial in an attempt to convince the jury that Appellant could not have committed the crimes as alleged by the State because Appellant was too intoxicated. Accordingly, Appellant's claim in this regard is not moot.

With respect to the speedy trial issue, the evidence below indicates that Appellant instructed trial counsel not to waive any of his rights. However, trial counsel did so. The error is especially obvious given the fact that Appellant had limited experience with the legal system and, according to trial counsel, could not easily grasp legal concepts. Anytime Appellant raised this issue with trial counsel, he was coerced into "waiving" his rights. As a result of the waiver, Appellant was precluded from seeking a discharge under the speedy trial rule, the State was permitted to prepare its case better, and Appellant was precluded from raising the speedy trial issue on direct appeal. The waiver of speedy trial was especially prejudicial given the fact that it permitted the State to analyze and test the inculpatory DNA evidence. Accordingly, trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by waiving Appellant's right to a speedy trial. This Court should therefore reverse the trial court's holding in this regard.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT RENDER INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO THE VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE ISSUE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

A trial court's findings following an evidentiary hearing on a post-conviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel must be supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>Schwab v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 402, 408 (Fla. 2002)(citing <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999)). The evidence must appear in the record. <u>Id</u>. In the case at bar, the trial court found:

"The gravamen of this claim is that [Appellant] did not agree to allow counsel to assert a voluntary intoxication defense, or otherwise authorize its use. The Court finds the testimony to be quite clear. While there was testimony from [Appellant] that he did not agree to allow counsel to assert voluntary intoxication as a defense, this Court did not permit it as a defense in the guilt phase of the trial. Therefore, that aspect of the claim is moot. In addition, any assertion of intoxication by counsel was only brought forward during the penalty phase of the trial and that is the only instance when a jury instruction was provided on that point..." (III:374).

However, the foregoing finding is not supported by competent, substantial evidence in the record.

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