IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES D. FORD,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-1611 Lower Tribunal No. 97-351-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court's ruling that voluntary intoxication was not used as a defense at trial is also supported by the direct appeal record. Although it was asserted as basis to find that the State had not proven premeditation or the intent required for the child abuse charge, it was not, and could not have been, offered as a defense to the sexual battery and felony murder charges (DA: V43/3706). In addition, it was not used as a defense to the premeditation in the traditional sense, in that it did not include any admission of any guilt (DA: V43/3662-71). Because it was not offered as an admission, and that was the reason Ford claimed in postconviction he did not authorize its use, the trial court's rejection of this claim was proper and fully supported by the record.

Furthermore, even if the intoxication defense had been presented in a manner contrary to Ford's desire, no Sixth Amendment violation can be demonstrated. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are controlled by the standards set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In

Strickland, the United States Supreme Court established a twopart test for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a defendant to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and fell below the standard for reasonably competent counsel and (2) the deficiency affected the outcome of the proceedings. The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." 466 U.S. at 687, 690; Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1333 (Fla. 1997); Rose v. State, 675 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 695; Valle, 705 So. 2d at 1333; Rose, 675 So. 2d at 569.

Proper analysis of this claim requires a court to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and evaluate the performance from counsel's perspective at the time, and to indulge a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment; the burden is on the defendant to show otherwise. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. See generally, Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2000).

The evidence presented at the hearing below clearly demonstrates the reasonableness of the defense strategy employed Ford's attorneys felt somewhat hindered in in this case. adopting a defense due to Ford's insistence that he had not committed the crimes (II: 96, 102; III: 297-98, 303). However, they believed that an appropriate defense could be offered by maintaining Ford's innocence, attacking the State's case, and suggesting that Ford had been too intoxicated to have committed the crimes in the manner suggested by the State (II: 96-98; III: 296-98, 331). In addition, a defense memorandum prepared prior to trial and admitted into evidence below establishes that Ford's attorneys explored the viability of several defense theories before settling on the strategy used at trial (II: 91-103). This defense respected Ford's claim of innocence but also laid a foundation for a penalty phase mitigation argument premised on intoxication.

Ford, Sullivan and Alessandroni all acknowledged having discussed the overall defense strategy at length (III: 277, 297, 303, 322-23, 330-33). Ford claimed that he instructed his

attorneys not to use voluntary intoxication as a defense (III: 278-79). Sullivan testified that he did not recall Ford objecting to the strategy, but acknowledged that Ford had denied having been drunk on the day of the murders (III: 297, 300, 303, 325). Alessandroni testified that Ford appeared to agree with the strategy and never instructed them not to use it (III: 332-33, 338-39).

The conflict in testimony as to whether Ford expressly agreed or objected to a defense strategy incorporating a voluntary defense argument is not significant, since counsel are not required, under the Sixth Amendment, to obtain a defendant's consent to trial strategy. In <u>Florida v. Nixon</u>, 543 U.S. 175 (2004), the United States Supreme Court recently reaffirmed an attorney's prerogative to adopt a reasonable defense strategy without the express approval of the defendant:

An attorney undoubtedly has a duty to consult with the "important decisions," including regarding questions of overarching defense strategy. Strickland, 466 U.S., at 688, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052. That obligation, however, does not require counsel to obtain the defendant's consent to "every tactical decision." Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 417-418, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798, 108 S. Ct. 646 (1988) (an attorney has authority to manage most aspects of the defense without obtaining his client's approval). But certain decisions regarding the exercise or waiver of basic trial rights are of such moment that they cannot be made for the defendant by a surrogate. A defendant, this Court affirmed, has "the ultimate authority" to determine "whether to plead quilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal."

Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 77 L. Ed. 2d 987, 103 S. Ct. 3308 (1983); Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 93, n. 1, 53 L. Ed. 2d 594, 97 S. Ct. 2497 (1977) (Burger, C. J., concurring). Concerning those decisions, an attorney must both consult with the defendant and obtain consent to the recommended course of action.

Nixon, 543 U.S. at _____, 125 S. Ct. 551 at 560. Ford's assertion that counsel should not have presented a voluntary intoxication defense over his objection does not demonstrate deficient performance; counsel cannot be deemed unreasonable simply because they strategically took some actions against Ford's consent. Damren v. State, 838 So. 2d 512, 518 (Fla. 2003) (strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance where counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct).

Thus, the ruling below was correct as no relief was available under this claim either factually or legally. Whether Ford consented to the particular legal strategy employed by his attorneys has little relevance to establishing constitutionally deficient performance. Under Strickland, Ford must demonstrate that the defense asserted is one that no reasonable attorney would have adopted. He cannot make such a showing on the facts of this case.

Both trial attorneys testified about their reasons for employing the chosen defense: first of all, Ford insisted that

he did not commit the crimes, and maintained that he was not drunk. The State had a very strong case, including compelling DNA evidence, eyewitness testimony placing Ford with the victims at the scene shortly before the murders and appearing dazed and bloody afterwards, and Ford's ties to a .22 caliber rifle, as used on the victims. Sullivan and Alessandroni believed that it was necessary to conduct the guilt phase of the trial with "an eye on" the penalty phase, and considered the intoxication evidence an important foundation (III: 296-97).

Thus, the evidence clearly establishes that Ford's trial attorneys conducted a reasonable pretrial investigation and thereafter adopted a defense which they believed to be most beneficial to their client. The law is also clearly established, that such strategic decisions are "virtually unchallengable" under the Sixth Amendment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691; Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003).

In <u>Koon v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993), this Court considered and rejected a factually similar claim:

has failed to establish that Koon counsel's performance was deficient. According to O'Steen's testimony below, he reviewed the 1982 psychiatric reports and discussed the case with Dr. Wald prior to O'Steen testified that he and Koon discussed the possibility of a voluntary intoxication defense to negate specific intent and thus reduce the crime to second-degree murder. However, Koon insisted pursuing a verdict of not quilty. Koon maintained that he was innocent and that he was at home asleep at

the time of the murder. O'Steen testified that although his preference would have been to pursue voluntary intoxication as the primary defense, under the circumstances, he felt that the defense of innocence was equally viable. O'Steen testified that his experience had been that juries did not look favorably on the voluntary intoxication defense. Although he considered the possibility that Koon was in an alcoholic blackout at the time of the murder, that was inconsistent with Koon's detailed testimony of where he was and what he did at all times on the day of the murder. Moreover, although O'Steen did not present voluntary intoxication as the primary defense, presented evidence that Koon was a chronic alcoholic and that he was intoxicated at the time of The jury was instructed on voluntary the murder. intoxication. Based on these facts, O'Steen's decision not to pursue a voluntary intoxication defense was a reasonable trial tactic predicated on his experience, his assessment of the case, and Koon's expressed desires.

As in <u>Koon</u>, Ford's claim of innocence was respected by counsel, yet the evidence of intoxication was argued as a basis to reject a verdict of premeditated murder. The difference in the cases is that, in postconviction, Koon's collateral attorneys thought a more complete intoxication defense should have been presented, but Ford's claim is that his attorneys should not have pursued voluntary intoxication at all. This is a difference without legal significance, as in both cases the postconviction challenge amounted to no more than a disagreement over the chosen strategy employed, and since the trial strategy used was reasonable, the collateral disagreement is insufficient for relief. <u>See Patton v. State</u>, 878 So. 2d 368, 373 (Fla.

2004) (in rejecting claim that voluntary intoxication was not pursued as vigorously as it should have been where defense was presented in limited, narrow manner, Court reiterated that "claims expressing mere disagreement with trial counsel's strategy are insufficient").

This Court has repeatedly stated that "it will not second-guess counsel's strategic decisions concerning whether an intoxication defense will be pursued." <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 905 So. 2d 42, 52 (Fla. 2005); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 855 So. 2d 611, 616 (Fla. 2003). Ford's trial attorneys thoroughly considered their options, weighing the advantages and disadvantages of different defense theories, and chose to use the evidence of Ford's drinking to a limited extent. The reasonableness of their decision precludes a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel, even if Ford did not agree with the strategy.

The defense presented at trial was well within the bounds of reasonableness. Ford has not suggested an alternative theory that he believes counsel should have explored; he has merely asserted that he did not agree with a voluntary intoxication defense as he understood that it would amount to an admission of guilt. Since it was not offered as an admission of guilt and it did not interfere with Ford's claim of innocence, there is no

basis to conclude that his attorneys were deficient in selecting this defense.

Even if there is disagreement as to whether reasonable attorneys would adopt the same strategy, Ford has not offered any basis for a finding of prejudice. As the attorneys acknowledged, the State's case was strong, with eyewitnesses placing Ford at the scene with the victims shortly before the murders; conclusive DNA evidence that placed Ford's semen in Kim Malnory's vagina and on her shirt, Kim's blood in Ford's truck and on his shoe, and Greg's tissue on Ford's knife; eyewitness testimony about Ford appearing bloody and dazed after the murders; finding the rifle stock near where his truck had run out of gas; and other circumstantial evidence linking him to the There is no reasonable probability of a different crime. outcome had Ford's attorneys avoided the issue of intoxication. On these facts, the trial court's rejection of ineffective assistance based on the argument and instruction on voluntary intoxication must be affirmed.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED FORD'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WITH REGARD TO THE WAIVER OF SPEEDY TRIAL.

Ford also challenges the trial court's denial of his claim that his attorneys were ineffective for failing to preserve his speedy trial rights. As with the prior issue, the standard of review requires deference to the trial court's factual findings and de novo consideration of the legal conclusions. Stephens, 748 So. 2d at 1033. Once again, the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing compelled the denial of relief, and no error has been demonstrated in this issue.

The trial court specifically found that the decision to waive speedy trial in order to insure adequate trial preparation was not only reasonable, it was "absolutely necessary" on the facts of this case (III: 375). In fact, the court concluded "there is absolutely no way counsel could have been effective had the Defendant's asserted claim of his right to a speedy trial been exercised" (III: 375). The evidence presented below fully supports the trial court's factual finding of necessity. Both trial attorneys testified that they could not have been prepared for trial without securing additional time. Attorney Sullivan testified that there was "no question" in his mind that the initial waiver of speedy trial was necessary (III: 307).

Alessandroni agreed that anytime the defense sought a continuance, it was necessary to prepare the defense; he "can't conceive" trying a case such as this within six months; "[i]t is just not possible" (III: 343).

The direct appeal record also supports the reasonableness of the speedy trial waiver. The murders occurred on April 6, 1997, and Ford was indicted on April 30, 1997 (DA: V1/13-15). The defense needed to depose dozens of witnesses, including many involved with complex scientific issues; independent experts also needed to be consulted (III: 304, 320-21). In addition, numerous sources of mitigation were available for investigation, including mental health issues that had to be explored (III: 304-05, 317, 321). Alessandroni testified at the evidentiary hearing that even more time would have been appreciated, but trial ultimately commenced on February 22, 1999 (III: 343; DA: V26/1009).

Ford does not even allege that the State would not have been able to obtain convictions if a speedy trial had been secured, and Ford's testimony that the State was able to present evidence that would not have been available earlier is much too vague and speculative to demonstrate a reasonable probability of a different result had his attorneys rushed the case to trial. In addition, both Ford and Sullivan confirmed that Ford himself

wanted the DNA testing completed, as Ford believed it would demonstrate his innocence (III: 288, 325). Sullivan testified that a refusal to waive speedy trial would have resulted in the State having the testing expedited, leaving the defense with no way to counter the compelling evidence of guilt (III: 306, 317, 321).

In addition, the fact that Ford at some point began objecting to the pretrial delay does not establish deficient performance. As noted previously, attorneys have a constitutional obligation to prepare and try a case based on their training and experience as to what is in their client's best interest. The right to a speedy trial is not one that is subject to the client's total control. <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983); <u>State ex rel. Gutierrez v. Baker</u>, 276 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 1973) (counsel may waive speedy trial without the knowledge and consent of defendant; reasonableness depends on the facts of the case).

Ford's suggestion that attorney Sullivan "seemed to concede that perhaps he should not have waived Appellant's right to a speedy trial" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 19), is not persuasive. This conclusion was only offered with the benefit of hindsight, as Sullivan was expressly "looking back on things," in commenting that, despite the extensive pretrial

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